IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ANTOINE SALLOUM,

vs.

Appellant.

BOYD GAMING CORPORATION, d/b/a MAIN STREET STATION, a Delaware corporation,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Dec 18 2020 03:17 p.m. Docket No.: 8076 Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court District Court Case No.: A-19-804678-C

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Daniel R. Watkins Nevada State Bar No. 11881 dw@wl-llp.com Theresa M. Santos Nevada State Bar No. 9448 tsantos@wl-llp.com WATKINS & LETOFSKY, LLP. 8935 S. Pecos, Ste. 22A Henderson, NV 89074 Office: (702) 901-7553; Fax: (702) 974-1297

Attorneys for Appellant, Antonine Salloum

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ANTOINE SALLOUM,

vs.

Appellant.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Court's appellate jurisdiction over this matter lies in NRAP 3A(b)(1), because this appeal is from a final district court judgement granting a motion to dismiss. The district court entered the order granting the motion to dismiss on February 10, 2020. Notice of Entry of Order was served electronically on February 14, 2020. Defendant Antoine Salloum timely filed his Notice of Appeal on March 5, 2020.

ROUTING STATEMENT – RETENTION IN THE SUPREME COURT

This case is presumptively retained for the Supreme Court to "hear and decide" because it raises "as a principal issue a question of first impression involving common law. NRAP 17(a)(11). This case presents the question whether NRS 613.430, amended by SB 177 in the 2019 legislative session, and which went into effect on October 1, 2019, extended the deadline for Appellant to file an action in District Court. This statement is made pursuant to NRAP 28(a)(5).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether Appellant timely submitted a sworn charge of discrimination within Nev. Rev. Stat. Section 613.430's 180-day deadline.

2. Whether the 90-day language added to NRS Section 613.430 that became effective on October 1, 2019, extended the deadline for Appellant to file an action in District Court.

3. Whether any miscalculation by Appellant is excusable under the Doctrine of Equitable Tolling.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Antoine Salloum, was discharged from employment on or about August 15, 2018. (JA005). Appellant submitted a Complaint with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (hereinafter "EEOC") on February 11, 2019 – exactly 180-days after his termination. The EEOC Inquiry Form on file at EEOC lists February 14, 2019, as Respondent's initial EEOC inquiry date. (JA060 – JA062). Correspondence from Appellant to the EEOC is dated February 11, 2018. (JA030 – JA035).

On June 10, 2019, the EEOC issued a formal Charge of Discrimination against Respondent, citing discrimination based upon age, sex, and national origin. (JA022). On August 13, 2019, the EEOC issued a Right to Sue letter. (JA011). Appellant filed his Complaint in state district court eighty-one days later, on November 1, 2019. (JA001 – JA012).

Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss on November 25, 2019. (JA013 – JA021). Respondent maintains that Appellant's claims are time-barred because although he filed an administrative Charge of Discrimination, Appellant did not bring a legal action until November 1, 2019, more than eight months past the 180-day deadline to do so. *Id*.

Appellant maintains that amendments to NRS 613.430, which became effective on October 1, 2019, extended the time for Appellant to bring an action to November

-1-

13, 2019 (ninety-days following the right-to-sue notice) – a deadline which Appellant met. (JA022 – JA046; JA069 – JA119). Appellant further maintains that because SB177 addressed remedies and procedures, as opposed to specific conduct, the changes to NRS 613.430 applied to all pending unlawful employment actions at the time the law was passed and not simply those that occurred after October 1, 2019, the day SB177 became effective. *Id*.

Alternatively, based upon the theory of equitable tolling and excusable delay, Appellant's Complaint is timely.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On or about August 15, 2018, Respondent discharged Appellant, Antoine Salloum, from employment for allegedly borrowing money from employees and/or soliciting employees to donate to charitable causes – a violation of Respondent's policies and procedures. (JA005). Appellant alleges the termination, instead, was substantially motivated by discrimination based upon age, sex, and national origin. (JA001 – JA012). Appellant's discharge occurred despite his adamant denials of any wrongdoing, and in spite of several long-time employees approaching management in his defense. *Id*.

Appellant filed a complaint with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (hereinafter "EEOC") on February 11, 2019 – exactly 180-days after his termination. (JA060 – JA062). The EEOC and the Nevada Equal Rights Commission

-2-

(hereinafter, "NERC"), have a work-sharing agreement and as such, a complaint is timely if it is filed with an appropriate federal agency within that period. *See* NRS 233.160 (1).

On June 10, 2019, the EEOC issued a formal Charge of Discrimination against Respondent, citing discrimination based upon age, sex, and national origin. (JA021). On August 13, 2019, the EEOC issued a Right to Sue letter. (JA011). Having exhausted his administrative remedies, Appellant filed his Complaint in District Court eighty-one days later, on November 1, 2019. (JA001 – JA012).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant's submission of a Complaint to the EEOC occurred on February 11, 2019 – exactly 180-days after his termination, and as such, the subsequent filing of a complaint in district court on November 1, 2019, was also timely.

Prior to October 1, 2019, discrimination claims authorized by Chapter 613 of the Nevada Revised Statutes could not be brought more than 180-days after the date of the act complained of. *Richardson v HRHH Gaming Senior Mezz, LLD.*, 99 F.Supp. 3d 1267, 1275 (D. Nev. 2015). However, the Nevada legislature amended NRS 613.430 during the 2019 legislative session, providing that a complaint for a wrongful employment action must be brought either within 180-days of the wrongful act *or* within 90-days following the right-to-sue notice from the Nevada Equal Rights Commission. Amendments to NRS 613.430, which became effective on October 1, 2019, extended the time for Appellant to bring an action to November 13, 2019 (ninety-days following the right-to-sue notice) – a deadline which Appellant met. In addition, because SB177 addressed remedies and procedures, as opposed to specific conduct, the changes to NRS 613.430 applied to all pending unlawful employment actions at the time the law was passed and not simply those that occurred after October 1, 2019, the day SB177 became effective.

Alternatively, based upon the theory of equitable tolling and excusable delay, Appellant's Complaint is timely.

ARGUMENT

A. Appellant Timely Filed His Charge of Discrimination.

The adverse employment action in this matter occurred on August 15, 2018 – the day that Appellant was fired from Respondent's employ. (JA005). NRS 613.430 provides that a charge of discrimination must be filed within 180-days of the adverse action. In this instance, the 180th day was February 11, 2019. *Id*.

Appellant has consistently maintained that he submitted his complaint with the EEOC on February 11, 2019, the 180th day to do so. (JA030 – JA035). Appellant's Charge of Discrimination was therefore timely submitted. However, even if Appellant was incorrect in his calculations and filed his Charge on the 183rd day, the Charge of Discrimination is still considered timely because of the work sharing

-4-

agreement between the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission and the Nevada Equal Rights Commission.

In jurisdictions such as Nevada, where cases are shared or transferred between the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission and the related state agency, the 180-day deadline is extended – to 300-days. C.F.R. § 1601.13(a)(4)(ii)(A). A Charge of Discrimination filed with the EEOC "is timely if the charge is received within 300days from the date of the alleged violation." C.F.R. § 1601.13(a)(4)(ii)(A). The EEOC, on its website, provides than the 180-calendar-day filing deadline is extended to 300-calendar days "if a state or local agency enforces a state or local law that prohibits employment discrimination on the same basis." https://www.eeoc.gov/howfile-charge-employment-discrimination last visited December 11, 2020.

The Nevada Equal Rights Commission is the state agency in Nevada that enforces a state law that prohibits employment discrimination. The Nevada Equal Rights Commission, on its website, provides that if an employee has filed a complaint with the EEOC, he does not have to file a separate complaint with NERC.

The NERC has a work-sharing agreement with the EEOC. Where both NERC and the EEOC have jurisdiction, you can file a complaint with either agency, and the agency where you file first will investigate. If you have already filed a complaint with EEOC, they will file the complaint with NERC. www.detr.nv.gov/Page/Complaint_Process last visited December 11, 2 020.

Finally, courts have consistently maintained that, as it relates to the exhaustion of administrative remedies, service upon one agency serves as a constructive filing upon the other. *Ware v. NBC Nevada Merchants, Inc.*, 219 F.Supp. 3d 1040, 1046 (2017). *See also, Green v Los Angeles County Superintendent of Schs.*, 883 F.2d 1472, 1476 (9th Cir. 1989), holding that if a state agency has a work-sharing agreement with the EEOC, the state agency is an agent of the EEOC for the purpose of receiving charges, and *McConnell v. Gen.Tel. Co. of California*, 814 F.2d 1311, 1315-16 (9th Cir. 1987), holding that work-sharing agreements function to constructively file charges with both agencies at once, thus exhausting a plaintiff's administrative remedies.

In light of federal and state policies, as well as case law, Appellant timely filed his Charge of Discrimination.

B. Appellant's Case Lived Within the Administrative Process Until the Issuance of the Right to Sue Letter.

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 protects employees from discrimination based on race, color, sex, sexual orientation, national origin, and religion. Before beginning a lawsuit, Title VII requires that a plaintiff exhaust his administrative remedies by filing a timely charge with the EEOC, or the appropriate state agency, thereby affording the agency an opportunity to investigate the charge. 42 U.S.C. §20003-5(b). "The administrative charge requirement serves the important

purposes of giving the charged party notice of the claim and 'narrow[ing] the issues for prompt adjudication and decision.' *B.K.B. v. Maui Police Dept.*, 276F.3d 1091 9th Cir. 2002, citing *Park v. Howard Univ.*, 71 F.3d 904, 907 (D.C.Cir.1995) (quoting *Laffey v. Northwest Airlines, Inc.*, 567 F.2d 429, 472 n. 325 (D.C. Cir.1976));

Similar to its federal counterpart, NRS 613.330 protects employees from discrimination on the basis of race, color, sex, sexual orientation, national origin, and religion. (Nevada's also includes age/disability). NRS 613.420 requires an employee alleging employment discrimination to exhaust his administrative remedies by filing a complaint with the Nevada Equal Rights Commission before filing a district court action. *See Pope v. Motel 6*, 121 Nev. 307, 114 P.3d 277 (2005). See also *Palmer v. State Gaming Control Board*, 106 Nev. 151, 153, 787 P.3d 803, 804 (1990).

Appellant complied with these administrative requirements when he filed his complaint with the EEOC in February 2019. (JA030—JA035) (JA060—JA062). From February 2019 until August 13, 2019, Appellant's case lived within the administrative process, first awaiting a response to his discrimination complaint, and then awaiting the issuance of the Right to Sue letter. Appellant's complaint remained under the jurisdiction of the EEOC until the EEOC issued a Right to Sue Notice on August 13, 2019. (JA011).

Following the issuance of the Right to Sue Notice, Appellant had ninety-days – until November 13, 2019 – to bring an action in District Court. Appellant timely filed his Complaint on November 1, 2019. (JA001—JA012).

During the time that Appellant's case moved through the administrative process of the EEOC, the Nevada legislature amended NRS Chapter 613. Chapter 613 now provides that a person alleging an unlawful employment practice must bring an action within 180-days of the act complained of *or more than 90 days after the date of the receipt of the right to sue notice, whichever is later*. NRS 613.420 (2). (Emphasis added.) The changes to NRS Chapter 13 became effective October 1, 2019. Appellant filed his Complaint on November 1, 2019 within the 90-day window he had to file a complaint. (JA001—JA012).

C. Because SB177 Relates to Remedies and Procedure, It Applies to the Instant Case

Senate Bill 177 greatly expanded the remedies available under Nevada's antidiscrimination statute and provided other significant changes to the NERC's administrative process. SB177 went into effect on October 1, 2019. It is codified in Chapter 613 of the Nevada Revised Statutes.

The purpose behind SB177 was to remedy the procedural "catch-22" presented by old provisions of NRS 613.430 which prevented claimants from ever filing in a complaint in district court if they did not file a complaint with the EEOC/NERC and

receive a right to sue letter from EEOC/NERC within 180-days of the adverse employment action. (JA043—JA045). The right to sue letter is required before filing a complaint to confirm completion of the administrative process. See Palmer v. State of Nevada, et. al., 106 Nev. 151, 153 787 P.2d 803, 804 (1990), holding that claims involving employment discrimination are to be administratively exhausted prior to seeking redress in district court. "Section 613.420 authorizes the filing of employment discrimination claims in district court once a plaintiff has exhausted his administrative remedies by filing a complaint with NERC." Russo v. Clearwire US, LLC., No. 2:12-CV-01831-PMP-VCF, 2013 WL 1888753, (D. Nev. 2013), citing Pope v. Motel 6, 114 P.3d 277, 311 (Nev. 1990). If a complainant did not receive the right to sue letter by the 180th day, he could still proceed administratively, but he was time-barred from seeking a remedy in state court. Thus, although a claimant had 300days to file a Charge of Discrimination (NRS 233.160), he only had 180-days to file suit in state court (NRS 613.430). Id.

In this case, the Appellant timely filed his complaint with the EEOC 180-days after the adverse employment action. (JA30—JA35). Because Appellant needed a right to sue letter from the EEOC/NERC prior to filing a complaint in district court, and because the EEOC/NERC does not issue right to sue letters until after they complete an interview and issue a charging complaint, it would be impossible for a claimant to have the opportunity to present his/her claim to a jury in district court if

he/she did not file the initial complaint with the EEOC/NERC with sufficient time for them to complete the process of receiving the complaint, completing the interview, issuing a charging complaint and providing a right to sue letter. Importantly, the EEOC/NERC does not operate on a set schedule when it comes to the process of completing interviews, issuing charges, and providing right to sue letters. Therefore, any claimant who filed a complaint with the EEOC/NERC in the last days of the 180day limit to file a complaint in district court, would be precluded from filing in district court, because the right to sue letter would not be returned within the 180-day limit to file a complaint in District Court. The legislature sought to remedy this procedural quagmire with SB 177. (JA036—JA041) (JA043—JA046.)

SB177 was silent regarding whether it applies to violations that occurred prior to October 1, 2019 or only those violations that occur after October 1, 2019. However, the Nevada Supreme Court has discussed this issue in the past and has held that a statute is presumed to apply prospectively, unless it relates to remedies and procedure. *Friel v. Cessna Aircraft Co.*, 751 F.2d 1037, 1039 (1985). See also *Valdez v. Employers Ins. Co. of Nevada*, 123 Nev. 170, 179 (2007). If a statute relates to remedies and procedure, it will apply to any case pending when it is enacted, because remedies do not alter the conduct that occurred before the change.

It is a rule of construction that statutes are ordinarily given prospective effect. But when a statute is addressed to remedies or procedures and does not otherwise alter substantive rights, it will be applied to pending cases. . . The legislative change in no way alters the effect given to conduct before the change." *Id*.

SB177 sought to extend the remedies available under Title VII to the four categories of discrimination that the Nevada Constitution protects but which are not enumerated as discrimination under Title VII — sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, age, and disability. (JA036—JA041) (JA043—JA046.) SB177 also addressed the administrative remedies provision of NRS 613.430 and clarified the relationship of the 180-day filing deadline. *Id.* Because SB177 addressed remedies and procedures, as opposed to specific conduct, the changes to NRS 613.430 applied to all pending unlawful employment actions – not simply those that have occurred since October 1, 2019. As such, the amendments to Chapter 613 that took effect on October 1, 2019 apply to Appellant's case and are controlling in the instant matter.

Respondent maintains that Appellant's claim was already time-barred when SB177 went into effect and that allowing the claim to survive would be reviving an expired claim. This argument would apply if SB177 had been a substantive bill. However, SB177 was fashioned to address remedies and procedure relating to substantive rights. *Id.* Because SB177 did not add or remove any substantive rights, it only applied to remedies and procedures; and because it only applied to remedies and procedures, SB177 applied to any case pending when it was enacted. Appellant's case was pending at the time it was enacted.

Because the new law went into effect on October 1, 2019, the old provisions of NRS 613 expired on September 30th. Beginning on October 1st, Appellant was under the authority of the Amendments to Chapter 613. Application of the Amendments to Chapter 613 to this case perfectly serves the purpose behind the amendments.

D. Any Miscalculation by Appellant Is Excusable Under the Doctrine of Equitable Tolling.

Should this Court find that Appellant's Complaint was, in fact, untimely, Appellant requests that this Court find it timely upon the theory of equitable tolling.

Under the doctrine of equitable tolling, a statute of limitations will not bar a claim if despite use of due diligence, the plaintiff did not or could not discover the injury until after the expiration of the limitations period. The Nevada Supreme Court adopted the theory of equitable tolling for employment discrimination cases in 1983, holding that "procedural technicalities that would bar claims of discrimination will be looked upon with disfavor." *Copeland v. Desert Inn Hotel*, 99 Nev. 823, 826 (1983). *See also Seino v. Employers Ins. Co. of Nevada*, 121 Nev. 146, 152 111 P.3d 1107 (2005) and *City of North Las Vegas v. State Local Government Employee-Management Relations Bd.*, 127 Nev. 631, 261 P.3d 1071, 1077 (2011).

In determining whether the doctrine should apply in a given case, this Court noted several factors to consider: (1) the diligence of the claimant; (2) the claimant's knowledge of the relevant facts; (3) the claimant's reliance on authoritative statements by the administrative agency that misled the claimant about the nature of the claimant's rights; (4) any deception or false assurances on the part of the employer against whom the claim is made; (5) the prejudice to the employer that would actually result from delay during the time that the limitations period is tolled; (6) and any other equitable considerations appropriate in the particular case. *Id*.

In this instance, Appellant electronically submitted a complaint to the EEOC on Monday, February 11, 2019 – exactly 180-days after his termination. (JA060— JA062) (JA030—JA035). Appellant considered this a timely filing. Unfortunately, the EEOC does not provide confirmation codes for receipt of uploaded Complaints, so Appellant cannot provide any support for his timely filing other than his own testimony.

Additionally, Appellant timely requested a Right to Sue letter. Appellant received his Right to Sue letter on August 13, 2019. (JA011). Appellant had ninety days from the issuance of the Right to Sue letter to file suit. The 90-day deadline was November 11, 2019. Appellant acted in good faith upon his understanding of the new law and timely filed suit on November 1, 2019. (JA001—JA012).

Finally, tolling the limitations period would not prejudice Respondent. Statutes of limitations "are designed to promote justice by preventing surprises through the revival of claims that have been allowed to slumber until evidence has been lost, memories have faded, and witnesses have disappeared." *Am. Pipe & Construction*

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