IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ANTOINE SALLOUM,

Appellant,

vs.

BOYD GAMING CORPORATION,
D/B/A MAIN STREET STATION,
A DELAWARE CORPORATION,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed
Case No. 80769-2021 01:51 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court
District Court Case No.
A-19-804678-C

APPEAL

**From the Eighth Judicial District Court
The Honorable Kathleen E. Delaney**

ANSWERING BRIEF

Paul Swenson Prior
Nevada Bar No. 9324
Kelly H. Dove
Nevada Bar No. 10569
Hayley J. Cummings
Nevada Bar No. 14858
SNELL & WILMER L.L.P.
3883 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 1100
Las Vegas, NV 89169
Telephone: (702) 784-5200
Facsimile: (702) 784-5252
sprior@swlaw.com
kdove@swlaw.com

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

II. Mr. Salloum’s Claims under NRS 613.330 *et seq.* Are Time-Barred.

A. NRS 613.430 Prohibited Claimants from Filing State Law Discrimination Claims with the District Court More than 180 Days from the Last Act Complained of at the Time Mr. Salloum’s State Law Claims Expired.

On February 11, 2018—the date Mr. Salloum’s alleged discrimination claims under state law expired—NRS 613.430 explicitly “***prohibited*** the bringing of such actions after 180 days from the date of the act complained of.” *Copeland v. Desert Inn Hotel*, 99 Nev. 823, 825, 673 P.2d 490 (1983) (emphasis added); *see also Kame v. Employment Sec.*

⁸ *Public Portal FAQ*, U.S. Equal Emp. Opportunity Comm’n (June 28, 2017) <https://publicportal.eeoc.gov/Portal/Login.aspx> (emphasis added).

Dep't, 105 Nev. 22, 24, 769 P.2d 66, 67 (1989) (“*Copeland* involved an interpretation of NRS 613.430, which prohibits the bringing of causes of action based on discriminatory employment practices after 180 days from the date of the act complained of. . . .”).

Though this Court has not had the occasion to assess analogous circumstances at length, well-established authority from the United States District Court for the District of Nevada is instructive.⁹ Courts in the District of Nevada have repeatedly held that discrimination claims “authorized by Chapter 613 of the Nevada Revised Statutes may not be brought more than 180 days after the date of the act complained of.” *Richardson*, 99 F. Supp. 3d at 1271 (quoting NRS 613.430); *see also, e.g., Szyszka v. Cove Elec. of Nev., Inc.*, No. 2:14-cv-00580-JCM-NJK, 2014 U.S. 2014 WL 3748208, at *4 (D. Nev. July 30, 2014) (internal citation omitted) (The “[p]laintiff’s claim was filed with the EEOC on June 3, 2013, while the last alleged discriminatory conduct—the constructive

⁹ The Court may consider federal case law interpreting NRS 613.430 as persuasive authority. *See, e.g., Terry v. Sapphire Gentlemen’s Club*, 130 Nev. 879, 886, 336 P.3d 951, 957 (2014) (“having no substantive reason to break with the federal courts on this issue, judicial efficiency implores us to use the same test as the federal courts. . . .”) (internal quotations omitted).

termination—occurred around November 21, 2012. The court finds that the plaintiff’s discrimination claim under NRS 613.330 is untimely, because 194 days passed between the last date of the alleged conduct and the date plaintiff’s claim was filed with the EEOC. Therefore, defendant’s motion to dismiss will be granted as to plaintiff’s claim of discrimination . . . in violation of NRS 613.330.”). The Ninth Circuit has also followed NRS 613.430’s 180-day limitation period when assessing employment discrimination claims brought under Nevada state law. That is, the Ninth Circuit held that “[t]he district court properly concluded that [the plaintiff’s] state-law discrimination claims were time-barred. Under Nevada law, ‘[n]o action ... may be brought more than 180 days after the date of the act complained of.’” *Swan v. Bank of Am.*, 360 F. App’x 903, 906 (9th Cir. 2009) (quoting NRS 613.430).

Further, in *Young v. Boggs*, No. 2:10-cv-01846-KJD, 2011 WL 2690125 (D. Nev. July 11, 2011), the plaintiff asserted race and age discrimination violations under NRS 613.330. While the plaintiff filed a charge with the EEOC 240 days after the alleged discriminatory act, the court dismissed plaintiff’s NRS 613.330 claims, with prejudice, because

the plaintiff failed to file her charge within Nevada's 180-day deadline.

Young, 2011 WL 2690125, at *2. The court explicitly stated,

NRS 613.430 requires plaintiffs who wish to bring lawsuits under Nevada's unfair employment practice laws to file charges with NERC within 180 days after the alleged discriminatory or retaliatory act. ***This 180-day deadline is not expanded even though Nevada has a work sharing agreement with the EEOC that lengthens the deadline to file with the EEOC to 300 days.***

Id. (emphasis added). Here, like the plaintiff in *Young*, Mr. Salloum filed his Charge of discrimination within 300 days of the alleged discriminatory act but failed to meet NRS 613.430's 180-day deadline. As a result, the district court correctly dismissed Mr. Salloum's NRS 613.330 *et seq.* claims with prejudice.

The reasoning in *Russo v. Clearwire US, LLC*, No. 2:12-cv-01831-PMP, 2013 WL 1855753 (D. Nev. Apr. 30, 2013) is also instructive. The court rejected the plaintiff's argument that his claim was timely because it was filed within 300 days of his constructive discharge, holding that ***"§ 233.160(1)(b) does not apply to claims in which a plaintiff seeks to file a district court action. Instead, § 233.160(1)(b) provides that a plaintiff has 300 days from the date of a discriminatory employment practice to file a complaint with NERC."*** *Id.* (emphasis

added). Though “[a] plaintiff might timely file a complaint with NERC within the 300–day deadline,” he would “be unable to file a district court action once that complaint has been disposed of by NERC if 180 days had elapsed before the NERC complaint was filed.” *Id.* To be clear, while “a plaintiff has 300 days to file a complaint with NERC and only 180 days to bring suit in district court,” nothing prevents a plaintiff from filing his “complaint with NERC before § 613.430’s 180–day deadline, which would have tolled the limitations period for his district court action.” *Id.* There, as here, the court dismissed with prejudice the plaintiff’s claim for violation of NRS 613.330. *Id.* at *4; *see also Lo v. Verizon Wireless LLC*, No. 2:13-cv-2329-JCM-NJK, 2014 WL 2197636, at *2 (D. Nev. May 27, 2014) (“Plaintiff did not file his complaint [within] the 180–day limitations period. Therefore, the plaintiff is time barred from raising . . . causes of action [under NRS § 613.330].”).

Here, Mr. Salloum filed his Charge on June 10, 2019—**119 days late** and **299 days after** the Company terminated his employment. Accordingly, the district court correctly recognized that Mr. Salloum’s failure to file his NRS 613.330 claims within its 180-day deadline was a fatal defect, and, for this reason, the Court should affirm.

B. Mr. Salloum Misunderstands the Work-Sharing Agreement Between NERC and the EEOC.

The Company does not dispute the fact that Nevada and the EEOC have a work-sharing agreement—the law on this agreement is extensive and coherent. Yet, Mr. Salloum’s understanding of the work-sharing agreement is incorrect. The court in *Young* provides a thorough explanation on Nevada’s work-sharing agreement with the EEOC in the context of NRS 613.430’s 180-day deadline. Specifically, a “charge filed with the EEOC is ‘constructively filed’ with the state agency either on the same day that the charge was filed with the EEOC or on the day the EEOC refers the complaint to the state agency.” *Young*, 2011 WL 2690125, at *2 (citing *Peterson v. State of California*, 319 Fed. Appx. 679 (9th Cir. 2009); *EEOC v. Commercial Office Products Co.*, 486 U.S. 107, 112–113 (1988)). NRS 613.430 “requires plaintiffs who wish to bring lawsuits under Nevada’s unfair employment practice laws to file charges with NERC within 180 days after the alleged discriminatory or retaliatory act.” *Id.* ***“This 180-day deadline is not expanded even though Nevada has a work sharing agreement with the EEOC that lengthens the deadline to file with the EEOC to 300 days.”*** *Id.* (emphasis added) (citing *Kora v. Renown Health*, 2010 WL 2609049, *3

(D. Nev. 2010)). The court in *Young* was clear: “***Federal EEOC deadlines do not affect state law deadlines.***” *Id.*, at *2 (emphasis added). In other words, “[c]harging parties have the benefit of the 300-day time ***limit for filing their federal claims*** even when they have missed the state’s filing deadline for submitting those claims to the state deferral agency.” *Anisko v. Eldorado Dev. Corp.*, No. 2:16-cv-02020-JAD-GWF, 2018 WL 4409354, at *3 (D. Nev. Sept. 17, 2018).

III. Even if NRS 613.430’s Amended Language Applied to Mr. Salloum’s Claims—Which It Does Not—Mr. Salloum’s Claims Are Still Time-Barred.

A. While S.B. 177 Added a 90-Day Provision to NRS 613.430, the Statute’s Plain Language Clarifies that the Added 90-Day Language Does Not Apply to Mr. Salloum’s Claims.

Despite S.B. 177’s amended language, Mr. Salloum’s claims under NRS 613.330 remain absolutely time-barred. His filings make clear that Mr. Salloum based his decision to abandon his federal causes of action and exclusively pursue state-based claims on a mistaken understanding of S.B. 177. In fact, Mr. Salloum affirmatively decided to abandon his federal claims and pursue his time-barred state law claims:

Plaintiff was on a train to federal court. He filed timely under the EEOC. He filed his right to sue correctly.

He was preparing to file his complaint in federal court, and he looks out the window, low and behold, the law in Nevada changed a month earlier. Now, the same remedies available in federal court are now available in state court. Well, let's file in state court, and that's exactly what he did.

JA073–74. Yet, when deciding to deboard the “train to Federal Court” and rely on a fragment of newly enacted legislation, Mr. Salloum apparently neglected the most basic principle of statutory construction—a statute must be construed as a whole. *See, e.g., Parker Drilling Mgmt. Servs., Ltd. v. Newton*, 139 S. Ct. 1881, 1890 (2019) (affirming that the cardinal principle of interpretation is that courts must give effect, if possible, to every clause and word of a statute); *C. Nicholas Pereos, Ltd. v. Bank of Am.*, 131 Nev. 436, 441, 352 P.3d 1133, 1136 (2015) (holding that when interpreting a statute, the Supreme Court considers the statute's multiple legislative provisions as a whole).

Even if NRS 613.430's recently amended language applied, the language does not transform his untimely allegations into timely allegations. As explained above, during its 80th Legislative Session, the Nevada Legislature amended several portions of Chapter 613 of the Nevada Revised Statutes with S.B. 177. S.B. 177 specifically amended NRS 613.430 as follows:

Sec. 8. NRS 613.430 is hereby amended to read as follows:
613.430 No action authorized by NRS 613.420 may be brought more than 180 days after the date of the act complained of ~~+~~ *or more than 90 days after the date of the receipt of the right-to-sue notice pursuant to section 2 of this act, whichever is later.* When a complaint is filed with the Nevada Equal Rights Commission , the limitation provided by this section is tolled as to any action authorized by NRS 613.420 during the pendency of the complaint before the Commission.

The statute's plain language clarifies that the added 90-day language exclusively applies to right-to-sue notices received "pursuant to section 2 of this act." Notably, just as with his briefing and oral argument presented to the district court, Mr. Salloum ignores "section 2" in his opening brief and provides no explanation as to why he escapes this statutory provision.

Section 2 of Chapter 613 states:

Sec. 2. If a person files a complaint pursuant to paragraph (b) of subsection 1 of NRS 233.160 which alleges an unlawful discriminatory practice in employment, the Commission shall issue, upon request from the person, a right-to-sue notice if at least 180 days have passed after the complaint was filed pursuant to NRS 233.160. The right-to-sue notice must indicate that the person may, not later than 90 days after the date of receipt of the right-to-sue notice, bring a civil action in district court against the person named in the complaint.

Based on the foregoing language, a person receives a right-to-sue notice from the Commission "pursuant to section 2" if the person requests the notice, the Commission issues the notice, and *at least 180 days have passed since the person filed his employment discrimination charge.*

Here, Mr. Salloum did *not* receive his right-to-sue notice pursuant to section 2 of Chapter 613. First, under Nevada law, the “Commission” that “shall issue” the right to sue letter is NERC—not the EEOC. The Nevada statutes plainly define “Commission,” clarifying that it “means the Nevada Equal Rights Commission [NERC] within the Department of Employment, Training and Rehabilitation.” NRS 233.020(2). Of note, whenever NRS Chapters 233 and 613 (or SB 177, for that matter) reference the term “Commission,” that reference is to the NERC, not the EEOC. At no time, did the NERC (*i.e.*, the “Commission”) issue Mr. Salloum a right-to-sue letter. Rather, the EEOC, not the Commission/NERC, issued the right-to-sue letter attached to Mr. Salloum’s Complaint.

Second, though discussed in more detail below, S.B. 177 was not effective until “October 1, 2019”; therefore, NERC could not—and did not—issue any new right-to-sue letters pursuant to section 2 until then. Rather, on August 13, 2019, the EEOC (not NERC) issued Mr. Salloum the purported right-to-sue letter for his alleged claims under Title VII and the ADEA. Obviously, the EEOC issued the letter long before S.B. 177 was even effective.

Third, Mr. Salloum did not request the right to sue letter after the required 180 days. Instead, on August 12, 2019, sixty-three days after Mr. Salloum filed the Charge with the EEOC, Mr. Salloum’s counsel wrote to the EEOC and requested Mr. Salloum’s right-to-sue notice:

To Whom it May Concern:

Please be advised that while we understand the intake process, Mr. Salloum wishes to pursue his claims in federal district court as soon as possible. Accordingly, please issue him [sic] right-to-sue letter immediately.

Thank you for your time and attention to this matter. If you have any questions, or need additional information, please feel free to call the office

Respectfully,
/s/ Theresa M. Santos

JA066; *see also* JA049 at 3:7-11. From this letter, Mr. Salloum’s counsel ostensibly recognized the age of the Charge.

On August 13, 2019, per counsel’s explicit request, the EEOC (not NERC) issued Mr. Salloum a right-to-sue letter for his alleged claims under Title VII and the ADEA. The right-to-sue letter plainly stated that “less than 180 days [had] passed since the filing of [Mr. Salloum’s] charge”:

- More than 180 days have passed since the filing of this charge.
- Less than 180 days have passed since the filing of this charge, but I have determined that it is unlikely that the EEOC will be able to complete its administrative processing within 180 days from the filing of this charge.
- The EEOC is terminating its processing of this charge.
- The EEOC will continue to process this charge.

JA011.

In addition to the August 13, 2019 right-to-sue letter, the “Recommendation for Dismissal/Closure” form issued by the EEOC further clarifies the timeline related to Mr. Salloum’s claims:

Charging Party or his/her attorney has requested an immediate RTS from the EEOC. ***It has been less than 180 days since the filing of Charging Party’s charge with the District Office.*** Charging Party has been advised that the District Director can deny requests for a RTS which is submitted less than 180 days from the date their charge was filed with the EEOC; ***Charging Party has been counseled regarding the termination of their investigation; their private suit rights under the applicable EEOC statute; and the requirement of filing a claim in federal court within 90 days.***

JA068 (emphasis added). Mr. Salloum’s right-to-sue letter and the EEOC’s form for “Recommendation for Dismissal/Closure” underscore two critical points: (1) Mr. Salloum filed his Charge on June 10, 2019—not February 11, 2019, a date that preceded the right-to-sue letter by more than six months; (2) far less than 180 days passed between Mr. Salloum filing his Charge and Ms. Santos requesting a right-to-sue letter from the EEOC.

Undoubtedly, though Mr. Salloum received a right-to-sue notice, he did not receive his notice “pursuant to section 2” of Chapter 613. Even if

the Court ignores the fact that the EEOC, rather than the “Commission,” issued Mr. Salloum’s right-to-sue notice, it is still apparent that Mr. Salloum did not receive his right-to-sue notice “pursuant to section 2” because *less than 180 days* passed between the filing of Mr. Salloum’s Charge and receipt of the notice. Indeed, through counsel, Mr. Salloum requested his right-to-sue notice only sixty-three days after Mr. Salloum filed his Charge. Accordingly, the primary argument that Mr. Salloum relies on to show that he “timely filed” his Complaint is entirely unpersuasive. In effect, Mr. Salloum’s Complaint is time-barred and the Court should affirm.

B. NRS 613.430’s Amended Language Does Not Revive Mr. Salloum’s Expired Claims.

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